INTRODUCTION 


This appeal ofa complex business case-about one family member's lawsuit challenging 

the redemption value of his interests in several family-owned businesses-tells the story of two 

injustices that now require the intervention of this Court to correct. 

The first part of the story was woven by Respondent himself, who was both an owner and 

employee of the businesses. Following Respondent's repeated and well-documented workplace 

abuses and threatening conduct-including pinning his pregnant sister against an office wall

his employer finally concluded that enough was enough. Though an at-will employee, 

Respondent was discharged for just cause, with the employer relying on a veritable mountain of 

misconduct evidence. Complying with the express terms of the governing shareholder and 

partnership agreements that bound the parties, Respondent's interests were redeemed, and he was 

paid according to the fair market valuation procedures common in such agreements. Nonetheless, 

angered at where his abusive and inexcusable behavior had left him, he sued, pouring vitriol over 

anyone and everyone-including all his siblings, who played various roles in the several 

business entities. Respondent launched numerous claims at his siblings and the corporate and 

partnership entities, alleging all manner ofplots against him. And the only way that his claims 

would succeed would be to find a court willing to just let it all slide. Unfortunately, that's exactly 

what happened. 

Then the second series of wrongs began to unfold: when Respondent's sca!!ershot claims 

were assigned to a.Circuit Court that repeatedly refused to enforce substantive and procedural 
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law-and to recognize basic corporate forms-throughout the proceedings, leaving in its wake 

errors both large and small. I The most critical errors occurred when the Circuit C0U11: 

• granted an equitable award of approximately $1.5 million in attorney's 
fees without providing any meaningful explanation as to why the award 
was justified or how such an award was calculated, citing nothing in the 
record, while openly predicting that this Court would overturn it; 

• reversed a decision by the prior judge assigned to the case, allowing 
Respondent to seek/or himselfdamages only available to the corporation 
in a properly instituted shareholder derivative action (which this was not); 

• refused to dismiss Respondent's breach of fiduciary duty claim as 
duplicative of his contract claim in clear violation of the "gist of the 
action" doctrine; 

• refused to grant judgment to the individual Petitioners on the contract 
claims, even though they plainly owed Respondent no duties under the 
governing agreements, and because Respondent presented no evidence to 
support piercing the corporate veil; and, 

• refused to grant summary judgment to Petitioner Colleen McGlinn on the 
fraud claim, where the claim was plainly time-barred, and where the 
failure to do so allowed volumes of otherwise inadmissible, prejudicial 
fraud "evidence" to inflame the jury's deliberations. 

This case cries out for correction by this Court, for these and many other reasons. 

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Circuit Court and remand for entry ofjudgment in 

favor of Petitioners, or alternatively, vacate the judgment and remand with directions to refer the 

case to the Business Court Division for all further proceedings. 

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 The court erred in awarding Respondent attorney's fees and prejudgment 
interest. 

2. 	 The court erred in allowing Respondent to recover for breach of fiduciary 
duty. 

By an administrative order dated February 5, 2016, retired Justice Larry V. Starcher was recalled 
to preside over this matter in Ohio County Circuit Court. Judge Jason Cuomo had requested the 
appointment of a senior status judge for this case due to his busy court schedule. J.A. 1071. 
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3. 	 The court erred in denying the individual Petitioners judgment as a matter 
oflaw on Respondent's contract claim. 

4. 	 The court erred in allowing Respondent to recover for breach of contract. 

5. 	 The court erred in denying the motion for summary judgment on 

Respondent's fraud claim against Petitioner Colleen McGlinn. 


6. 	 The court refused to give legal effect to two general releases signed by 
Respondent. 

7. 	 The court forced the jury use an inappropriate general verdict form. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

At its core, this business case arises out of the redemption of the interests of Respondent 

in two corporations, Petitioners ElC Legacy, Inc. ("Legacy") and Interstate Service Station 

Holdings, Inc. ("Interstate"), and a limited partnership, Convenience Realty LP ("Convenience"). 

Respondent was a shareholder in the corporations, a limited partner in the partnership, and an at

will employee of Petitioner Tri-State Petroleum Corporation ("Tri-State"), an operating company 

that is wholly owned by Legacy and is the general partner of Convenience. l.A. 4779,6733. The 

other inter~st holders were Respondent's siblings, individual Petitioners Collen C. McGlinn. 

Edward l. Coyne, II, Erin C. Merrick, and Sheila C. Romanek, who were also at-will employees. 

In general, the entity Petitioners are engaged in the business of distributing petroleum products 

and developing and maintaining gas stations and accompanying convenience stores. l.A. 2711. 

Two agreements govern the rights and obligations of the parties to this lawsuit: (1) a 

stockholders agreement dated December 1, 2008 ("Stockholders Agreement") and (2) a limited 

partnership agreement dated February 1, 2002 ("Limited Partnership Agreement") (together, the 

"Governing Agreements"). l.A. 9923-64, 9965-79. The parties to the Stockholders Agreement 

were Legacy, Interstate, Respondent, and the individual Petitioners. The parties to the Limited 

Partnership Agreement were Convenience, Tri-State, Respondent, and the individual Petitioners. 
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The Stockholders Agreement gave Legacy an option to purchase the shares of a 

stockholder in the event the stockholder's employment was terminated for "just cause," as 

defined in the agreement and as determined by the Board of Directors. J.A. 9965-79 (§3.1). In 

the event ofjust cause termination, the agreement provided that the purchase price was to be 

80% of the "fair market value" of the shares, as determined by the Board, as of the last day of the 

month immediately preceding the date of the event triggering the transfer (e.g., termination of 

employment).Id. (§4). Virtually identical provisions appear in the Limited Partnership 

Agreement. l.A. 9923-64 (§§10.5, 10.11). 

1. Respondent's history of misconduct. As the trial record thoroughly documents, 

Respondent's employment was terminated after more than a decade of repeated, unacceptable 

conduct and performance as an employee, including insubordination; use of obscene, abusive 

and threatening language in the workplace directed at company officers, his siblings, secretaries 

and convenience store employees; regular violations of key written company policies; exceeding 

authority; and engaging in threatening physical conduct. It took the better part of a day of trial to 

walk Petitioner Erin Merrick, Tri-State's Director of Human Resources, through this mountain of 

evidence. See l.A. 6460-546, 6597-638. The most egregious examples include as follows: 

• 	 A May 27,1998 workplace memo from Respondent's father and each of his siblings 
addressed the problems with Respondent's behavior and proposed solutions_ The 
memo commented on "outbursts" and the "rude-manner in which, in certain 
situations, you deal with your family members." The memo documented specific 
instances of Respondent's inappropriate behavior and admonished him to refrain from 
"yelling or swearing at, and belittling of, any Shareholder, Director, Officer or any 
employee or customer"; engaging in "emotional outburst[s] or. .. temper tantrums"; 
and exceeding his authority and making commitments for the companies that he was 
not authorized to make. The memo closed by suggesting a range of cooperative 
solutions and offering company funds to defray costs. l.A. 8717-22.2 

This trial exhibit, a six-page memorandum generated by all of Respondent's family members, is 
the best overview of Respondent's workplace misconduct. Petitioners commend this piece of evidence to 
the Court for an understanding of the many issues the family faced in dealing with Respondent. 
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• A July 15, 1999, company report indicated that Respondent was screaming, yelling, 
and throwing things in the office. J.A. 8855. Similarly, a company employee reported 
on April 3,2002, that Respondent threw a project file at another employee and threw 
a pen at his desk. The report raised the concern that the company could be sued for a 
hostile work environment. J .A. 8868-71. 

• On April 15, 2002, Respondent was placed on a two-week unpaid suspension due to 
an abusive, threatening, and physically violent action by him in the office against his 
sister Colleen, who was pregnant at the time. J.A. 7052,4686-87,8729-30. 

• A May 8, 2002, memo from Respondent's siblings and Scott Peklinsky (CFO and 
Board Member) to Respondent addressed his failure to change his bad behavior; 
failure to abide by the suspension; the concern that he was creating a hostile work 
environment; and extended his susp~nsion by a week. The inemo also mentioned 
misconduct such as violating the confidentiality of corporate information, conducting 
personal business on company time, and being disrespectful to others. lA. 8682-88. 

• On June 18, 2002, the Executive Committee sent a memo to Respondent regarding a 
report that he used obscene language directed at a store employee in the presence of a 
customer and threatened to take further disciplinary action. J.A. 8729-30. Similarly, a 
July 31,2003, memo from the Board to Respondent addressed his use of obscene, 
abusive, and threatening language and gestures in violation of policy and exposing 
the company to liability. The Board placed him on an unpaid IS-day suspension and 
requested that he enroll in anger management counseling, at the company's cost. The 
Board notified him that continued policy violations may result in termination. J.A. 
8644-49. 

• A September 5,2003, memo from all of Respondent's siblings to him commented on 
a verbal attack by him against them at a shareholders' meeting. He was placed on 
paid leave from September 5, 2003 through December 31, 2003. He was told that if 
he returned to work and continued to violate company policy, the Board was prepared 
to terminate his employment for just cause and redeem his interests pursuant to the 
terms of the shareholders agreement. lA. 8692-94. 

• Colleen emailed Respondent on April 27, 2005, copying the other siblings, regarding 
his use of foul language, throwing items, and inappropriate conversation. J.A. 8856
57. 

• A February 21,2006, Employee Counseling Form addressed Respondent's disregard 
of instructions from his supervisor and complaints by store managers about the 
offensive manner in which he talked to them. He was removed as VP of Real Estate 
Development and the position of Construction Project Manager. J.A. 8734-37. 

• A July 31, 2006, e-mail from Colleen to Respondent, copying the other siblings, 
addressed his conduct in arguing with, confronting, yelling, swearing at, or otherwise 
intimidating office staff. J.A. 8738-39. 
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• 	 A September 22, 2006, letter from Colleen to Respondent addressed his failure to 
cure insubordination, his intimidating outbursts directed at siblings and staff, and his 
complete disregard for company policies. He was placed on paid leave of absence and 
advised to seek counseling to address his behavioral issues. J.A. 8748-50. 

Respondent's defiant attitude toward his siblings and the issues with his documented 

workplace misconduct is best captured in a 2008 memo from him to Colleen, then the CEO of 

Petitioner Tri-State. See J.A. 8753 (quoting in part, "I will not continue to be subject [sic] myself 

to your crap. Let the others know I will not put forth any more effort and not be respected. Do it 

yourself I am tired of you threatening me. If you terminate me or fire me or take my pay away, I 

will contact my attorney to have a fair market [sic] value of my share of the companies analyzed 

[sic]. I will divorce my wife, sell my house and take what I can get. You will not have to ever 

worry about me ever again! I am so sick of you! You disgust me .... If you take my 

compensation away. 1 will file for bankruptcy until matters can be settled."). 

In 2010, after more than twelve years of this unacceptable behavior with no end in sight, 

the Board of Directors placed Respondent on a final paid sabbatical and established conditions 

for his returning to work. J.A. 8757-61, 6615-17. That same year, in exchange for an agreement 

by the companies and partnership to redeem a small portion of his interests so he could have 

funds available to settle his divorce, Respondent executed two broad, general releases of all 

claims against the entity Petitioners and Ms. McGlinn. l.A. 8762-75, 8886-92. Respondent 

ultimately made no effort to comply with the conditions of his return to work and, instead, in 

violation of the terms of his sabbatical, worked on a personal real estate development with 

another partner, unrelated to his employment. J.A. 8790-805, 8758-61, 8755-56. The paid 

sabbatical was supposed to last no longer than one year. But Respondent admitted that he had no 

intention of returning to work. J.A. 6625-26, 7228-31. After two years, with no indication that 
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Respondent would cooperate with the Board on the outlined plan to return to work, his 

employment was terminated on July 11,2012. J.A. 6619-26, 8790-805, 8787-89,10217-19. 

2. The redemption of Respondent's interests. Although the Governing Agreements gave 

the companies the right to redeem Respondent's interests in the event of termination for "just 

cause," initially his siblings decided that he would remain as a shareholder and partner in the 

businesses. J.A. 8711-16, 6635-38. Indeed, the Board had developed a plan where Respondent 

remained a shareholder and partner in the business and planned to provide him with a continued 

stream of income. Id. On September 2,2012, however, Respondent engaged in a menacing 

verbal assault upon his' sister, Petitioner Erin Merrick, and threatened physical violence against 

Erin's husband when he attempted to intervene. lA. 8872-75, 6626-34. As a result of this 

incident, the Board determined that it was necessary to exercise the option to purchase 

Respondent's interests, as Petitioners could no longer remain business partners with Respondent 

and in order to protect the family from further involvement with him. J.A. 8782-84, 6634-35. 

Pursuant to the Governing Agreements, the valuation of Respondent's interests was to be 

"determined as of the last day of the month immediately preceding the date of the event 

triggering event of transfer." J .A. 9965-79 (§4(a)), 9923-64 (§ 10.11). Accordingly, the valuation 

date for his interests was June 30, 2012. Thereafter, in accordance with the express terms of the 

Governing Agreements, the Board engaged a respected valuation firm, Gleason & Associates, 

P.C. ("Gleason"), to determine the "fair market value" of Respondent's interests. J.A. 7273, 

7256-72. Gleason valued the entire business at approximately $22,660,000 and the fair market 

value of Respondent's approximately 17% interest at $2,278,000. J.A. 7081-84. On June 20, 

2013, pursuant to the Governing Agreements, Respondent received approximately $1.7 million 

for his interests (the fair market value, net of the 20% "just cause" discount) by way of initial 
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payments totaling $360,236 and promissory notes totaling $1,349,400. l.A. 7081-84, 9203-33, 

5802-04,5807-09. Payments on to these notes have consistently been made and Respondent has 

cashed all checks issued to him. l.A. 9796-97, 5802-04, 5807-09, 6012, 6021-23. 

3. The Hail Mary lawsuit. By the time the consideration for his interests was delivered, 

Respondent had already hired an attorney and threatened litigation. Again attempting to avoid 

yet further heartbreak, Respondent's siblings (individual Petitioners here) offered to forego the 

20% purchase price discount called for in the Governing Agreements for a "just cause" 

termination ifRespondent would refrain from challenging his redemption. lA. 6026-27, 7081

84. He refused, l.A. 6026-27, and hired attorney David Fawcett of Pittsburgh. 

In luly 2014, Respondent filed his Complaint in the Circuit Court of Ohio County 

asserting claims for breach of contract and breach of fiduciary duty. l.A. 9-88.3 In August 2015, 

he filed an Amended Complaint in which he added a fraud claim against his sister, Petitioner 

Colleen McGlinn. l.A. 832-85. On Petitioners' motion to dismiss, the Circuit Court (then, ludge 

Cuomo) dismissed the usurpation of corporate opportunity and conversion claims in the 

Amended Complaint on the grounds that Respondent lacked standing to assert such claims, 

which are only appropriate in a shareholder derivative suit. l.A. 995-1005. 

Then things began to change dramatically. By administrative order dated February 5, 

2016, retired Justice Larry V. Starcher was recalled to active service to preside over the case. 

l.A. 1071. At the same time, Respondent sought leave to file a Second Amended Complaint 

Respondent's original complaint declared that the Governing Agreements were "valid and 
enforceable" and demanded "Fair Market Value" for his redeemed interests. J.A. 9-88 C" 25,29,54). But 
once his counsel realized that he could not claim in litigation a large dollar figure for Respondent's shares 
under the contract's standard of value, Respondent concocted a baseless "fraud in the inducement" claim 
to avoid the contracts, claiming that Petitioner Colleen McGlinn (while employed by a law firm in Texas) 
devised a plot to defraud Respondent of his interests some /7 years before he was terminated. l.A. 832
84 (Count 1), 1883. Respondents have served a Rule I I motion on Respondent's counsel regarding this 
unfounded claim. J.A. 1201 n.l., 1883. 
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alleging, among other things, usurpation of corporate opportunity, conversion, and breach of 

fiduciary duty-but this time, Respondent reinserted these previously-dismissed claims, lumped 

under the heading of a "breach of fiduciary duty." J.A. 1072-198. Over Petitioners' objections, 

the Circuit Court-now retired Justice Starcher-ignored Judge Cuomo's earlier opinion and 

order, granted Respondent's motion, and permitted the dismissed claims to be reinstated on May 

12,2016, less than six weeks before trial. lA. 1676-86, 1876-83, 3591-95. Despite Petitioners' 

request, the court refused to continue the trial to allow inquiry into the reinstated claims. 

Petitioners filed a comprehensive motion for summary judgment on all of the claims in 

the Second Amended Complaint in April 2016 and argument was held in May. J.A. 1992-2697, 

3780-881. The court promised to prepare a written <?rder denying the motion to facilitate 

"appellate review." J.A. 4261-64. Yet the court orally denied the motion with no meaningful 

explanation, id., and never entered any written reasons for the blanket denial. 

The case was tried to a jury beginning on June 21, 2016. Prior to the jury being seated. 

counsel for Petitioners again objected to having to try the case without the guidance of a written 

opinion on Petitioners' extensive summary judgment motion, given the complexity of the claims 

and defenses. J.A. 4592-93 (court admitting that it "just didn't get that done"). The objection was 

overruled, and the case proceeded to trial on Respondent's claims for fraud, breach of fiduciary 

duty, and breach of contract. Id. 

After eleven days of trial, the jury returned its verdict as follows: in favor of Petitioner 

Colleen McGlinn on the fraud claim; in favor of Respondent and against the all Petitioners on the 

claim for breach of fiduciary duty in the amount of $5,053, III and; in favor of Respondent and 

against all Petitioners in the amount of$5,053,111 on the claim for breach of contract. J.A. 7707

09. The jury clarified that its award on the breach of fiduciary duty and breach of contract claims 
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were intended to be a total unitary award of $5,053, Ill, and not cumulative awards. l.A. 7852

53. The parties stipulated to a molded verdict with a set-off amount of $1 ,819,200 from the 

verdict as amounts already paid to Respondent for his interests or to be paid to him in cash and 

under various promissory notes. l.A. 9796-97 (~(a». 

4. The Post-Trial Proceedings. Following trial, Petitioners moved for judgment as a 

matter of law or for a new trial and Respondent sought an equitable award of attorney's fees for 

nearly $2 million and for prejudgment interest and costs. J.A. 9174-202, 9234-422. The court 

held its sole post-trial motions hearing on August 25,2016. There, the court outright denied 

Petitioners' post-trial motion. l.A. 9547-51. As to Respondent's motion for attorney's fees, after 

frankly predicting that this Court would "knock ... out" such an award on appeal, the court

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