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

190, 196 (1986) (reasonableness is a ftmction offactors such as time, labor, and skill needed, 

novelty and difficulty of questions, customary fees, amounts involved, and result). 

B. The Prejudgment Interest Award Was Within The Trial Court's Discretion 

The prejudgment interest award was also within the trial court's discretion. Defendants' 

arguments, once again, misread the law and the facts. 

Defendants first contend that prejudgment interest is unavailable under W.V. Code § 56

6-31 because the damages supposedly were not "special damages." Pet. Br. 19-20. But"special 

damages" are merely those "sustained in the circumstances of a particular wrong," which "must 

be specifically claimed and proved." Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). That perfectly 

describes the damages here, which were specifically proven at trial through extensive expert 

testimony. Contrary to Defendants' strained statutory construction, the ''thrust'' ofthe language 

in § 56-6-31 defming "special damages ... is to make general damages, such as pain and 

suffering, not subject to prejudgment interest." Grove By & Through Grove v. Myers, 181 W. 

Va. 342, 349 (1989). Here, the damages were entirely special-Kevin asked the jury to make 

him whole for the value ofhis interests in the family business and did not seek damages for 

inconvenience,.humiljation, emotional distress, or any other general damages category. See 

Beardv. Lim, 185 w. Va. 749, 753 (1991). 

It is immaterial that the damages are not "funds that have been expended." Pet. Br. 20 

(quoting Pasquale v. Ohio Power Co., 187 w. Va. 292, 311 (1992)). In Pasquale, this Court 

ruled that prejudgment interest was proper on an a ward of lost future wages-even though, 

clearly,. the plaintiff had not yet "expended" her deceased husband's lost future wages. 187 W. 

Va. at 311; see also Grove, 181 W. Va. at 350 ("interest is to be recovered on special or 

liquidated damages incurred by the time of the trial, whether or not the injured party has by then 

paid for the same;'). 

Defendants also argue that the trial court abused its discretion because prejudgment 

interest is available only for an "ascertainable pecuniary loss," and here; the amount of damages 
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was a complex and disputed question. Pet. Br. 20. Blit Defendants' argument on this point 

betrays its ownweakness: the law requires ascertainability, not precise certainty. See id.; see 

also Ed. ofEduc. a/McDowell ely. v. Zando, Martin & Milstead, Inc., 182 W. Va. 597,610 

(1990) ("an award of interest in a contract action is not limited to cases.in which the [verdict 

amount] in question is undisputed"). Prejudgment interest need only "be calculated within the 

range of the circuit court's discretion to roughly and fairly compensate the plaintiff." Gribben, 

195 W. Va. at 501. And although Defendants noW proclaim the damages amount unknowable, 

their expert testified for most ofa day about the value ofKevin's share of the family business

testimony that would have been futile if Defendants' current position were to be credited. 

Next, hoping to minimize the amount ofprejudgment interest, Defendants make a couple 

Qfbare assertions that do not show abuse of discretion. First, they declare that the interest rate 

should be 3.25-3.5%, below the statutory minimum of7%.Pet. Br. 21. Their authority is 

statutory language providing that "[iJf an obligation is based upon a written agreement, the 

obligl:\tion shall bear a prejudgment interest at the rate set forth in the written agreement." W. Va. 

Code § 56-6-31(a). However, Defendants fail to mention that the next paragraph of the statute 

provides that the interest rate "shall not ... be .less than seven percent per annum." Jd at § 56-6

31(b). Read as a whole, then, the statute allows the use of a contractual interest rate ifit exceeds 

the 7% statutory rninimum.6 State v. Williams, 196 W.Va. 639, 641 (1996) (statutes are to be 

read in pari materia, giving force and effect to each provision). No legal authority would allow 

Defendants to breach the Agreements and then benefit from the lower interest rate specified in 

those Agreements. The principle that "no man may take advantage ofhis wrong" is "[d]eeply 

rooted in our jurisprudence." Glus v. Brooklyn E. Disl. Terminal, 359 U.S. 231, 232-33 (1959); 

Horlon, 487 S.B- 2d at 203 (it is "axiomatic that a party who first breaches a contract may not 

seek to enforce its terms against its contractual counter-party"). 

6 Other states' prejudgment interest statutes are interpreted .the sanle way. Marion Plaza, Inc. v. 
D & L Enters., Inc., 2010 WL 5296958, at *2 (Ohio App. Dec. 13,2010); Nelson v. Ameriquest 
Techs., Inc., 739 So.2d 161, 166 (Fla. App. 1999). 
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Defendants' last pot shot is that prejudgment interest should have run from June 20,2013 

(when Defendants made the initial payment on the $1.7 mi1lion they offered Kevin) rather than 

September 11,2012 (when Defendants decided to wrongfully redeem Kevin's interests). Pet. Br. 

21. However, prejudgment interest is "calculated from the date on which the· cause of action 

accrued.".Bd QfEduc., 182 W. Va. at 61.1; Grove, Syl. Pt. 2, 181 W. Va. at 343; Beard, 185 W. 

Va. at 753. Here, Defendants announced their intention to redeem Kevin's interests on 

September 11, 2012. He proceeded on the theory not only that their valuation ofhis interests was 

incorrect, but also that the redemption decision itself was a breach of contract. J A193 8-1991 

(Second Am. Cplt. ~~127, 128,210,223). Therefore, his contract claim accrued on September 

11,2012. 

As this Court has explained, prejudgment interest-by the language of the controlling 

statute-is mandatory. Grove, 181 W.V~ at 346. It is "a form of compensatory damages 

intended to make an injured plaintiff whole." Capper, 193 W. Va. at 19 (internal quotation marks 

and citation omitted). The awarcl here is well within the trial court's discretion. 

IV. 	 The Use Of A General Verdict Form Was Within The Trial Court's Discretion 

Defendants argue they should be awarded a new trial because the verdict slip did not 

1) list each Defendant separately and 2) inel ude interrogatories about the elements of each claim. 

Pet. Br. 36-39. This Court reviews these issues for abuse ofdiscretion. Syl. Pt. 4, Perrine v. E.1 

du Pont de Nemours and Co., 225 W. Va. 482 (2010) .. For multiple reasons, the trial court 

plainly did not abuse its discretion here. 

First, at the charge conference, Defendants did not object on the basis that they were not 

listed separately. Although their proposed verdict slip separated out each Defendant, when they 

had the opportunity to review the court's verdict slip, they did not object or say it was 

problematic because it did not address each Defendant separately. See JA77i3-7729 (objecting 

only that "the elements of the claim should be in [the verdict slip]"). Defendants' own case 
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confirms that this issue is waivable. Manor Care, Inc. v. Douglas, 234 W. Va. 57, 68 (2014) 

(objection that verdict slip referred to defendants collectively was withdraWIi and thus waived). 

In addition, Defendants have not explained what difference their preferred verdict slip 

would have made. Their only argument is that one of the Defendants, Sheila Romanek, "had no 

involvement as a member of the Board ...." Pet. Br. 38. However, Defendants here just continue 

their tactic of ignoring unfavorable facts. There was ample evidence of Sheila's wrongdoing: she 

signed the board resolution redeeming Kevin's stock (JA7074); participated in the secret 

Bridgeville development (JA JA8466; JA8467; JA8470); received secret legal advice about how 

to squeeze Kevin out of the business (JA5455-5459; JAlO175-10177); was a party to the 

Agreements (JA31; JA47); and benefited, like all the siblings, from the wrongful redemption of 

Kevin's shares (JA6783-6784). Sheila-as part of the majority shareholder group-owed Kevin 

a duty of good faith and loyalty. Masinter, 164 W. Va at 251. Moreover, this Court has 

"traditionally recognized ... that joint tortfeasors need not have the same degree of liability or 

participation offault in order to be held liable to the injured plaintiff." Harless v. First Nat 'I 

Bank, 169 W. Va. 673,685 (1982) (collecting cases). 

As far as Defendants' argument that the jury should have been asked about each element 

ofeach claim, the giving of a general or special verdict form is "quintessentially a judgment call" 

for the trial court. Barefoot v. Sundale Nursing Home, 193 W. Va 475, 493 n.29 (1995). Even if 

a special verdict slip "would have been preferable," the use of a general verdict slip "does not 

provide an independent basis for reversing an otherwise valid judgment." ld. at 493. This Court 

will not upend a jury verdict that was amply supported by the evidence (as this verdict was) 

merely because ofa qUibble about the verdict slip. See Perrine, 225 W. Va. at 539 (a more 

sp.ecific verdict form was not necessary because the requested element was adequately covered 

by the jury instructions). Plaintiff presented extensive evidence ofmultiple forms ofmisconduct 

by Defendants, anyone ofwhich supported the verdict. Thus, no new trial is warranted. 

At the charge conference, the trial court remarked that its verdict slip was "simple" and 

''in many respects ... probably favors the defendant." JA7728. The verdict slip gave the jury only 
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one line per claim on which to write a damage amount-which may very well have limited the 

amount awarded-and avoided duplicative damages. It was not an abuse ofdiscretion. 

V. 	 Defendants' Arguments About The Statute OfLimitations, The Releases, And The 
Fraud Claim-On Which They Prevailed-Do Not Move the Needle 

As an alternative to their request for outright reversal, Defendants ask this Court to order 

anew trial because the trial court denied their summary judgment motion on Plaintiff's fraud 

c1ai1n against Colleen. Defendants' arguments fail on both procedural and substantive grounds. 

Procedurally speaking, Defendants' position once again depends upon their self-serving 

view of the facts. Defendants do not even bother to reference any of the substantial evidence 

Kevin submitted in opposition to summary judgment-that demonstrated genuine issues of 

material fact regarding the fraud claims, JA2911-3340. Defendants cannot fairly contest the 

denial of summary judgment without even noting the evidence submitted in opposition. Further, 

ifDefendants felt they would be prejudiced by defending the breach of fiduciary duty and 

contract claims at the same time the fraud claim was tried, they could have moved to bifurcate 

the issues after denial of summary judgment on fraud. But they did not, so they cannot complain 

now. W. Va. Ins. Co. v. Lambert, 193 W. Va. 681,685 (1995) (party invited admission of 

supposedly prej udicial evidence by failing to move for bifurcation until morning of trial). 

As a fmal point before addressing the merits of Defendants' arguments, it is worth noting 

their Byzantine approach in appealing from a claim on which they prevailed at trial. Defendants 

contend that an erroneous denial of summary judgment on the fraud claim led to the admission of 

fraud evidence that would not have been admitted otherwise, and they say the fraud evidence 

inflamed and swayed the jury to find against,them on the other claims, thus entitling them to a 

new trial. Pet Br. 34. Defendants seem to believe that this winding analytical path permits them 

to avoid the abuse of discretion standard thatnormally attends evidentiary rulings. Instead, they 

want the de novo review that applies to denial of summary judgment Id at 32. 

However, the standard of review applied to mixed questions of fact and law depends on 

where they fall along ''the degree-of-deference continuum: The more fact dominated the 
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question, the more likely it is the trier's resolution of itwill be accepted unless shown to be 

clearly erroneous." Tennant v. Marion Health Care Found., Inc., 194 W. Va. 97, 106 (1995). 

Viewed properly along this continuum, Defendants' arguments about evidentiary errors resulting 

from a denial of summary judgment are fact-intensive and should be reviewed for clear error and 

abuse of discretion. 

A. 	 Even Absent The Fraud Claim, The Supposedly "Irrelevant" Evidence 
Would Have Been Admitted To Show Breach OfFiduciary Duty 

Defendants argue that if summary judgment had been granted, a "flood" of"irrelevant" 

fraud evidence would not have been admitted. However, Defendants' premise is false. Colleen

the Defendant against whom fraud was asserted-also breached her fiduciary duty to Kevin. All 

of the fraud evide.nce also went to breach of fiduciary duty. The overlap is illustrated by the lone 

example of evidence Defendants claim was "erroneously" admitted: the evidence ofColleen's 

plan to squeeze out Kevin by advising him to enter into the Agreements. Pet. Br. 34. This 

evidence would have been introduced even without a fraud claim because it demonstrated breach 

offiduciary duty-·that is, "burdensome, harsh and wrongful conduct[,] a lack ofprobity and fair 

dealing," and a "violation of fair play." Masinter, 164 W.Va. at 251 (internal quotation marks 

and citation omitted). Indeed, improper acts to "freeze out" a minority shareholder are 

quintessential fiduciary breaches. Id.. at 241 (Sy1. Pts. 2, 3, 4). This alone is reason enough to 

reject Defendants' assignment of error regarding the denial of summary judgment on the fraud 

claim.7 

7 In multiple respects, Defendants ask this Court to shoulder their burden by constructing their 
argunient for them. First, they say that a "flood" of irrelevant evidence was admitted-but 
provide only one "example," Pet. Br. 34. That amounts· to an improper demand for this Court to 
sift through the voluminous trial evidence and decide whether it pertained to fraud, fiduciary 
breach, or both. Second, Defendants remark in passing that "[e]ven if' the fraud evidence was 
relevant to the breach of fiduciary duty claim, the latter claim was also tiine-barred. Id. 
However, where an argument on appeal consists "primarily of conclusory statements'; like that 
one, the issue is "inadequately briefed" and this Court declines to address it. P.A. v. T.A., 793 
S.E.2d 866, 879 (W. Va. 2016). (Defendants cannot fix their problem now, because issues 
"raised by appellant ... in his or her reply brief, which were not presented in the opening brief, 
are generally regarded as waived, and will not, as a rule, be considered by the appellate court." 
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B. The Fraud Claim Was Timely 

Defendants simplistically argue that Kevin "knew all the facts" about his fraud claim 

more than two years before he asserted the claim. Pet. Br. 33. Here again, Defendants attempt to 

win reversal. on a fact-intensive issue by ignoring unfavorable facts. Their strategy fails. 

Fraud is not only an affirmative misstatement, but also "concealment offacts by one with 

knowledge ... and a duty to disclose, coupied with an intention to mislead." Quicken Loans, Inc. 

v. Brown, 230 W. Va. 306, 320 (2012). Colleen, as a fiduciary, had the highest duty to disclose 

material facts to Kevin. Masinter, 164 W. Va. at 247. Fraud claims accrue when the plaintiff 

knew (or through reasonable diligence should have known) ofthe nature of his claims, and when 

they accrue "presents a question of fact to be resolved by the jury." Stemple v. Dobson, 184 W. 

Va. 317, 320-21 (1990). The trial court correctly recognized that Colleen was acting as a trusted 

business partner and legal advisor, and ·that when Kevin should have realized she duped him was 

a factual question. JA3821;JA3827; JA3836. 

Defendants are Wrong to say that the fraud .claim accrued in June 2013 merely because, at 

that point, Kevin's employment had been terminated and Defendants had tried to buy him out for 

less than what his interests were worth. Although Kevin knew the dictated redemption price was 

unfairly low, he did not have the bulk of the evidence regarding Colleen's bad intentions and her 

extensive covert actions to carry out her plan to work against his interests and harm him. 

That evidence came to light only through documents obtained in discovery in 2015 and 

2016, which showed that: (1) while Colleen was directing Kevin to sign new Stockholders and 

Partnership Agreements, she was working with outside counsel to insert provisions against his 

interests (JA3175-3177, JAI0004); (2) Colleen secretly used company money to obtain advice 

from a second law firm on how to "squeeze" Kevin out (JA3194-3205; JA3207 -3209; JA3217); 

(3) while Kevin was still a shareholder, the siblings covertly hired a third law firm to create new 

4 C.l.S. AppeaJ and Error § 736.) And, in any event, Defendants did not argue in the trial court 
that the statute of limitations barred the fidJ,lciary breach claim-so the argument is waived for 
that reason as well. Bell v. West, 168 W. Va. 391, 397 (1981). 
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.corporations to move assets out of the family business behind Kevin's back (JA2979-2980, 

JAI0427); and (4) while Colleen was· telling Kevin he had to sacrifice for the long term benefit 

ofall shareholders, in fact she and her sister were secretly ·underpaying him and inflating their 

own compensa,tion (JA5346-5347; JAI0220).

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